2011

In the Matter of the Discipline of Thomas v. Rasmussen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

UT. R. APP. P. 3(a) and UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-3A-102 (3)(c) provide this Court with jurisdiction. This appeal is from the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of Disbarment* (the “**Order**”) entered by the Third District Court, on August 1, 2011, the Honorable L.A. Dever, presiding. The Order is attached as Addendum “A.”

**CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS, STATEMENT
OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL, AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

ISSUE I: *Did the court exceed its jurisdiction in proceedings conducted under UT. LAWYER DISC. AND DISAB. 14-524 by entertaining OPC’s objection to Rasmussen’s reinstatement to the practice of law outside the scope of the ten-day period of time contained therein?*

PRESERVATION: Rasmussen’s *Amended Response to OPC’s Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen’s Failure to Comply To Its Sanctions Order* filed on May 18, 2011. However, “[b]ecause subject matter jurisdiction goes to the heart of a court’s authority to hear a case, [citation omitted], it is not subject to waiver and may be raised at any time, even if first raised on appeal.” *In re Adoption of Baby E.Z.*, 2011 UT 38, ¶25, --P.3d--; *see, e.g.*,

Johnson v. Johnson, 2010 UT 28, ¶10, 234 P.3d 1100. Excess of jurisdiction is a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See, Atwood v. Cox, 55 P.2d 377 (1936).

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “Whether this court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that we review under the correction of error standard, affording no deference to the court’s legal conclusion.” Jenkins v. Jordan Valley Water Conservancy Dist. 2012 UT App 1, ¶11, --- P.3d ----.

ISSUE II: *Did the court abuse its discretion in relitigating Rasmussen’s reinstatement or, alternatively, in granting OPC post-judgment relief from the Reinstatement Order when both OPC’s objection and subsequent motion failed to adequately articulate or support the requests under applicable provisions of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedures?*

PRESERVATION: Rasmussen’s *Amended Response to OPC’s Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen’s Failure to Comply To Its Sanctions Order* filed on May 18, 2011, together with oral arguments at the Motion Hearing at R0557 at p. 18.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This Court reviews a “motion for relief from judgment for an abuse of discretion.” Robinson v. Baggett, 2011 UT App 250, ¶ 13, 263 P.3d 411 (citation omitted). However, it “review[s] any underlying legal questions for correctness.” *Id.* “[The] application of res judicata presents a question of law, which we review for correctness.” Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co., 2003 UT 8, ¶ 21, 70 P.3d 1.

ISSUE III: *Alternatively if the procedure below is sustained by this Court, did Rasmussen have a right to rely on his sanction being in the form of the court lifting the stay and imposing the one-year suspension?*

PRESERVATION: Rasmussen believed the suspension to be 181 days, but believed he was at risk for the one-year suspension if he failed to fulfill the conditions of the Sanctions Order. R0558 at p. 24. The court acknowledged the stay and that it needed to determine “whether or not Mr. Rasmussen is allowed to rely upon that...” R0558 at p. 25. OPC

acknowledged "...February 16th as the 181 days when the stay would have been up, ..."
R0557 at p. 5.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: "In reviewing attorney discipline cases, 'we review the court's findings of facts under the clearly erroneous standard.'" In re Discipline of Doncouse, 2004 UT 77, ¶ 9, 99 P.3d 837, *citing* In re Ennenga, 2001 UT 111, ¶ 9, 37 P.3d 1150. "However, 'we reserve the right to draw different inferences from the facts than those drawn by the court.'" *Id.*, *citing* Ennenga at ¶ 9 (quotation and citation omitted). "A different standard, however, applies to our review of the sanction imposed by the district court...[i]t is our duty to make an independent determination as to the appropriate sanction to be imposed." *Id.* at ¶ 10, *citing* Ennenga at ¶¶ 9-10. "We do not administer the sanction of disbarment lightly; we understand its devastating effects on an attorney." *Id.* at ¶ 16, *citing* In re Johnson, 2001 UT 110, ¶ 14, 48 P.3d 881.

ISSUE IV: *Alternatively, did the court err in concluding that disbarment was the presumptively correct form of discipline and in failing to account for mitigating circumstances?*

PRESERVATION: Mitigating circumstances were presented at the Motion Hearing.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: *See*, Issue III Standard of Review listed *supra*.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

A. SUP. CT. R. OF PROF. PRAC.; UT. LAWYER DISC. AND DISAB. Rules 14-501, 14-509, 14-524, 14-525, 14-526, 14-606, and 14-607.

B. UT. R. CIV. P. 59 and 60.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 27, 2009, the Office of Professional Conduct ("OPC") filed a *Complaint* (the "**Complaint**") against Thomas V. Rasmussen ("**Rasmussen**"). R0001. The Complaint

alleged that Rasmussen represented John Schriver in 2007 in Seventh Judicial District Court before Judge Anderson on a criminal matter (the “**Schriver Case**”). R0002. Trial was set for November 9, 2007, and the parties informed the jury would be summoned on October 26, 2007, with no plea bargain accepted thereafter. R0003. The Complaint alleged Rasmussen came to a consensus with the prosecutor about a plea bargain on October 26, 2007, but was cautioned that court approval was required. *Id.*

The Complaint indicated that Rasmussen sent a letter reciting the plea agreement on October 29, 2007, to the prosecutor and faxed it to the court. *Id.* The fax was received at 10:00 a.m. by the court; however, Judge Anderson was out of town and did not review it until November 5, 2007, and thereafter rejected the plea and proceeded towards trial on November 9, 2007. R0004.

Rasmussen filed to recuse Judge Anderson on November 6, 2007, which motion was denied by the presiding judge on November 7, 2007. R0005. Rasmussen filed a supplemental affidavit in support of recusal November 8, 2007. The Complaint alleged a party could only file one recusal motion under UT R. CIV. P. 29(c)(1)(c), believing Rasmussen’s affidavit to be a second one filed in an attempt to strike the trial date. *Id.*

On November 8, 2007, Rasmussen’s staff informed the court he would not be attending the trial. *Id.* The trial was not held, although all except Rasmussen appeared. R0006. Rasmussen was found in contempt for failure to appear and sanctioned \$1,000 to cover expenses for the trial and \$1,000 under Rule 11. *Id.*

On July 20, 2009, Rasmussen filed his *Answer* (the “**Answer**”) to the Complaint, arguing that the plea bargain was finalized before end of business Friday, October 26, 2007,

with a letter to memorialize the agreement sent on Monday morning, October 29, 2007. R0017-R0018. Rasmussen argued the supplemental affidavit was a motion to reconsider, and cited his courtesy call to the court to inform them he would not attend given the motion filing. R0020.

On May 24, 2010, OPC filed its *Sanctions Hearing Brief* requesting a one-year suspension for Rasmussen because of his misconduct. R0132. OPC argued misconduct for his failure to appear, violation of his duties to his client, the public, the profession, and the legal system, inconveniencing jurors and filing multiple recusal motions. R0138. OPC argued aggravating factors as follows: (1) Rasmussen's probation/stayed suspension from August 21, 2000, as a "pattern of misconduct;" however, such was dismissed and OPC could not evidence any actionable complaints filed with the Bar; (2) Rasmussen's refusal to acknowledge the wrongful conduct; and (3) Rasmussen's substantial experience in the law. R0142-144. OPC argued a lack of mitigating circumstances and requested a one-year suspension. R0144; R0146. Rasmussen filed his *Sanctions Hearing Brief* on May 28, 2010, arguing that a simple conference call could have resolved the plea agreement issues rather than Judge Anderson rejecting it, and that there was no potential/actual injury to Schriver, particularly given the later court acceptance of a substantively similar plea agreement and that Shriver was pleased with the representation. R0149-0151.

The sanctions hearing was held June 1, 2010 and the *Order of Sanction* (the "**Sanctions Order**") was entered July 21, 2010, determining that Rasmussen knew the motion to recuse was denied, knew he could only file one, and yet filed a second one (the affidavit). R0160. The court found that Rasmussen (1) failed to appear because he would be forced to go to

trial, violating his duty to his client, the profession, and the legal system; (2) burdened the legal system by filing two motions, expended judicial resources, and inconvenienced jurors; (3) acted knowingly; (4) caused harm to Schriver depriving him of counsel at trial and requiring him to appear multiple times to resolve it; (5) caused injury to the legal system, and (6) caused additional expenses. R0161-R0164. The court found aggravating factors of his prior dismissed discipline, failure to appear, pattern of misconduct, refusal to acknowledge wrongdoing, and substantial experience rising to suspension, with no mitigating circumstances existing. R0165-R0166, R0168.

Rasmussen was suspended for one year (1) with all but 181 days of the suspension stayed, as follows:

The Court will enter a suspension for one year in this matter but will stay all but 181 days. The Court is staying the imposition of the remaining time upon the following terms and conditions:

1. That he enter and complete an ethics and professional conduct course by the end of the 181 day suspension.
2. That he not practice law during the suspension and so certify that fact by affidavit.
3. That he have no violations of the rules for one year from the date of this Order.
4. That he will initiate a change in his office procedure whereby he personally communicates with the Court, its staff and opposing counsel and all such communication will be memorialized in his case file and will include the date, time and the named individual communicated with. Additionally, all changes of court dates must be followed by written communication to the Court.

R0169. Rasmussen filed to amend the Sanctions Order to a reprimand. R0171. OPC opposed it arguing a lack of grounds to alter it to a public reprimand. R0185-0186. The court denied the amendment on October 22, 2010. R0195.

On December 20, 2010, OPC informed Rasmussen (the “**December Letter**”) of

their knowledge that he had appeared before a court on December 17, 2010, telling him to cease and desist from the practice of law or be subject to an order to show cause. The December Letter stated his suspension was for six months and one (1) day subject to UT. LAWYER DISC. AND DISAB.14-526.

On January 24, 2011, Rasmussen filed his *Verified Petition for Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen*. (“**Petition**”), under UT. LAWYER DISC. AND DISAB. Rules 14-525 and 14-526 because of OPC’s December Letter, indicating he had complied with the terms and conditions of the Sanctions Order and asking that he be reinstated. R204. Rasmussen also filed his *Affidavit of Thomas V. Rasmussen* (“**Affidavit**”) on January 24, 2011, pursuant to UT. LAWYER DISC. AND DISAB. 14-524, indicating that by entry of the order he will have not practiced law for 181 days under the Sanctions Order. R0207. On February 17, 2011, Judge Dever indicated he would sign the reinstatement order because OPC had not objected. R0212. On February 17, 2011 an *Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen* (“**Reinstatement Order**”) was entered. R0213.

On February 23, 2011, OPC filed a *Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen* (“**Reinstatement Opposition**”), arguing that the Reinstatement Order was premature under 14-525. R0215-R0218. On February 25, 2011 Rasmussen filed a *Reply to Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen* (“**Reinstatement Response**”) arguing that OPC’s Reinstatement Opposition to the Affidavit was untimely under 14-524, the deadline having passed February 7, 2011. R0219-R0225. On February 25, 2011 OPC filed it’s *The Office of Professional Conduct’s Reply to Reply to Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen* (the “**Reinstatement Reply**”), arguing in

favor of applying 14-525 since the suspension was for six months and one (1) day and Rasmussen had filed the Petition under 14-525. R0217-0222. OPC argued the Affidavit was inconsistent with 14-524, was deceptive, and not in compliance with UT. R. CIV. P. 7. R0217-0222.

On March 8, 2011, a hearing was held (the “**Affirmation Hearing**”) regarding the Reinstatement Opposition. R0241. The court affirmed the Reinstatement Order. *Id.* On March 29, 2011 the court issued its *Order* (“**Affirmation Order**”) affirming the Reinstatement Order, but indicating as follows:

The Court will not set aside its Order of reinstatement dated February 17, 2011. Thus, said Order will remain in full force and effect. However, the OPC may bring any information to the Court that it might have that Mr. Rasmussen acted in violation of its Order of Sanction in this case dated July 20, 2010.

R0263.

On March 17, 2011 OPC filed its *Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen’s Failure to Comply with its Sanctions Order* and its *Memorandum in Support of Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen’s Failure to Comply with its Sanctions Order*. (collectively, the “**Post-Judgment Motion**”), indicating the effective date of the Sanctions Order as August 19, 2010, with the Petition and Affidavit filed prematurely 158 days thereafter incorrectly indicating Rasmussen had not practiced law for 181 days. R0245-R0249. The Post-Judgment Motion argued Rasmussen had continued to practice law and had three dismissed bar complaints during his suspension, violating the Sanctions Order and warranting disbarment. R0250-0253.

On April 21, 2011 Rasmussen responded by filing his *Response to OPC’s Motion for the*

Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen's Failure to Comply with its Sanctions Order (“**Post-Judgment Response**”), conceding to OPC’s evidence of ongoing practice, stating that six (6) were withdrawals of counsel, twelve (12) were proceedings which he was winding up, and five (5) involved continuing matters until after he was reinstated. R270.

On April 25, 2011 OPC filed its *Reply to Memorandum in Support of Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen's Failure to Comply with its Sanctions Order*. (“**Post-Judgment Reply**”), arguing Rasmussen’s concession. R0274-R0275. OPC sought disbarment based on a progressive discipline schematic. R0280.

On May 16, 2011 Rasmussen responded to the Post-Judgment Reply further clarifying the cases OPC had listed (“**Post-Judgment Response #2**”). R0501. On May 18, 2011, Rasmussen filed his *Amended Response to OPC's Motion for the Court to Consider Evidence of Thomas V. Rasmussen's Failure to Comply To Its Sanctions Order* (the “**Supplemental Post-Judgment Response**”), raising a procedural challenge to OPC’s failure to timely file an objection to the Affidavit within ten days as required by 14-524, and arguing that OPC committed prosecutorial misconduct by submitting additional pre-reinstatement evidence after the Reinstatement Order even after entry of the Affirmation Order denying the Reinstatement Opposition. R0512-R0513, R0517.

On July 19, 2011, the court entered its *Order* (the “**Disbarment Order**”), stating specifically as follows:

Rasmussen argues that the Court is without authority to consider his violation of the suspension because the OPC did not file a notice of violation before he was reinstated. The Court does not find any merit to this claim. The suspension entered by the Court was for one year with all but 181 days suspended. There is nothing in the Rules that states that violations of the

suspension provisions can only be brought during the active period of the suspension.

By his own admission, Rasmussen violated the terms and conditions of his suspension. He continued to handle cases and in fact accepted new clients during the period of suspension.

Rasmussen violated the Order of the Court. His disregard of the Order brings into play Rule 14-606(a). A review of the factors outlined in Rule 14-604 establish the following: First, there is no question that Rasmussen had a duty that was violated. The duty was complying with the Court Order. Second, his mental state was the stated need for money. Third, there was injury to the public and to the judicial system. A suspended attorney has no right to appear and represent individuals. Finally, there are no mitigating circumstances and the aggravating circumstances are clear. Rasmussen blatantly disregarded the Order of the Court for his own financial benefit. This violation was not a single episode but nearly two score. Rule 14-606(a) outlines the range of discipline for an attorney that violates a disciplinary order. The Court believes the appropriate sanction for violation of the suspension order is the next higher sanction.

This Court finds that the appropriate sanction for violations committed by Rasmussen is DISBARMENT.

R0523-R0524 (emphasis in the original).

On July 27, 2011, Rasmussen objected to the proposed findings, arguing against OPC's unsolicited presentation of a draft order. R0527. It was denied August 1, 2011. R0542. On July 27, 2011, Rasmussen filed to stay the Disbarment Order. R0529. The request was denied August 1, 2011. R0542. On July 27, 2011, Rasmussen filed his *Notice of Appeal*. R0536. The *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of Disbarment*, was entered on August 1, 2011 (included in the defined term of "**Disbarment Order**" *supra*). R0544.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Affirmation Hearing March 8, 2011

On March 8, 2011, the matter came for the Affirmation hearing on OPC's Reinstatement Opposition, as follows:

OPC stated the issue as whether or not Rasmussen's reinstatement applied under either 14-524 as Rasmussen asserted for suspensions less than six months, or 14-525 as OPC asserted for suspensions over six months. R0558 at p. 2-3. Rasmussen referenced his Reinstatement Response and asked the court to sustain its Reinstatement Order, citing that "this has created a tremendous hardship on me and those that I love and care about" but acknowledging that he bore the responsibility and desired to "see if I can get back in the saddle and support my family as I have before." R0558 at pp. 3-4.

OPC argued that the Sanctions Order stated Rasmussen's suspension as one year, invoking 14-525. R0558 at p. 4. OPC argued that Rasmussen's Petition was in line with 14-525, but acknowledging that 14-524 only required an Affidavit to start practicing immediately. R0558 at pp. 4-5. OPC conceded the ten day objection deadline for the Affidavit under 14-524. R0558 at pp. 4-5. However, OPC argued the Petition under 14-525 can be filed three months before the end of the suspension period, providing OPC sixty (60) days to object, and the court ninety (90) days to hold a hearing, with additional requirements under 14-525 outside the Sanctions Order, such as taking the "multi-professional responsibility thing." R0558 at pp. 5-6.

The court explained that it intended the suspension to be for six months and one (1) day, noting that it should not have used days in the Sanctions Order. R0558 at pp. 7-8.

OPC argued the Affidavit was to be filed under 14-524 at the end of the 181 days, but Rasmussen filed it only 158 days after. R0558 at p. 8. OPC received the Reinstatement Order on the 181st day. *Id.* OPC argued there was “no reason why we would ever think that that was an affidavit consistent with 14-524, which would trigger a response on our part.” R0558 at pp. 8-9.

OPC believed Rasmussen’s actions were “totally consistent” with 14-525; they proceeded accordingly by preparing a notice for the bar journal and serving discovery. R0558 at p. 9. OPC stated that they were doing their due diligence by checking their information, but believed Rasmussen had practiced during his suspension R0558 at p. 9. OPC argued that “[w]e need to make sure our evidence is solid, and that needs to be clarified before Mr. Rasmussen can begin practicing law...” R0558 at p. 9. OPC asked to set aside the Reinstatement Order and proceed under 14-525. R0558 at p. 10. OPC acknowledged a finding in Rasmussen’s favor would negate the proceedings under 14-525 stating “[t]here would be no need to answer our discovery.” R0558 at p. 10.

Rasmussen’s understanding when he filed the Affidavit was that 14-524 allowed a ten-day objection period for OPC *prior* to the reinstatement being in effect, so he filed it in advance so the reinstatement could occur on the 181st day. R0558 at p. 11. Absent objection from OPC, Rasmussen believed the court capable of reinstating him. R0558 at p. 12. Rasmussen also filed the Affidavit based on the Sanctions Order, which required that he undertake certain actions “by the end of the 181 day suspension.” R0558 at p. 12. Rasmussen acknowledged he had “probably created a little confusion” but that “[o]ut of an abundance of fear and caution” after receiving the December Letter, “not wanting to create

any confusion or unnecessary delay” he filed the Petition and an Affidavit and felt he had complied, albeit with “overkill.” R0558 at pp. 12-13.

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