2011

In the Matter of the Discipline of Thomas V. Rasmussen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

(b) Petition. A petition for reinstatement or readmission shall be verified, filed with the district court...

.....
(d) Publication of notice of petition. At the time respondent files a petition for reinstatement or readmission, OPC counsel shall publish notice of the petition in the Utah Bar Journal....

.....
(f) Review of petition. Within 60 days after receiving a respondent's petition for reinstatement or readmission, OPC counsel shall either: (f)(1) advise the respondent and the district court that OPC counsel will not object to the respondent's reinstatement or readmission; or (f)(2) file a written objection to the petition.

(g) Hearing; report. If an objection is filed by OPC counsel, the district court, as soon as reasonably practicable and within a target date of 90 days of the filing of the petition, shall conduct a hearing...

(Emphasis added). The issue of whether Rasmussen's suspension and reinstatement were governed by the provisions of 14-524 or 14-525 is not directly before this Court. While Rasmussen has maintained the provisions of 14-524 are applicable, the OPC has urged the application of 14-525. Although the trial court stated it was its original intent that 14-525 would govern, it never specifically ruled under which provision it was reinstating Rasmussen, and neither party has specifically appealed this issue. In fact, because the trial court signed the order reinstating Rasmussen, the procedural question of whether it was pursuant to 14-524 or 14-525 is likely moot.

However, whereas Rasmussen is arguing the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by not enforcing the time limits imposed by 14-524, and whereas the OPC maintains that the proceedings were not conducted pursuant to 14-524, a

brief discussion of this issue may be necessary to permit this Court to properly consider Rasmussen's argument.

The question of whether 14-524 or 14-525 applies comes down to a determination of whether Rasmussen was suspended for a period greater than, or less than, six months.

A. The Conduct of the Parties Evidenced an Understanding that Rasmussen's Suspension was Governed by 14-525, Rather than 14-524.

In its original *Order of Sanction*, the trial court imposed "a suspension of one year in this matter but will stay all but 181 days." (R. at 169). Near the end of the 181 days, Rasmussen submitted to the trial court a *Verified Petition for Reinstatement*. (R. at 204). Such a petition is required by 14-525, not by 14-524. In his petition, Rasmussen petitioned the court to "please reinstate me at the earliest possible time." *Id.* Whereas, absent an objection from the OPC, reinstatement under 14-524 is automatic upon expiration of the period of suspension, a request to be reinstated "at the earliest possible time" is more consistent with a petition filed pursuant to 14-525, where the trial court must take specific action before reinstatement can occur.

On the same day as he filed his verified petition, Rasmussen filed an *Affidavit of Thomas V. Rasmussen*, the only substantive averment of which was, "I have not practiced law for a total of 181 days up to the time of my anticipated reinstatement in this matter." (R. at 208). The affidavit made no mention as to his compliance with the other requirements of his suspension or reimbursement

to the Bar's Lawyer Fund for Client Protection, as would be required of an affidavit filed under 14-524.

After receiving the verified petition, OPC counsel prepared a notice of the proposed reinstatement to be printed in the Utah Bar Journal. (R. at 227). This notice is required by 14-525, not 14-524. Shortly after filing his verified petition Rasmussen submitted to the trial court a proposed *Order of Reinstatement*. (R. at 213). Again, such an order is required by 14-525, not 14-524.

It is apparent from the conduct of the parties that it was understood Rasmussen's reinstatement was governed by the provisions of 14-525 rather than 14-524. Thus, it was reasonable for the OPC to conclude it had 60 days in which to file its objection, rather than the 10 days sought to be imposed by Rasmussen after the fact.

B. It Was the Intent of the Trial Court that Rasmussen's Reinstatement be Governed by 14-525, Not 14-524.

Though not binding on an appellate court, the trial court's interpretation of its own order should be given great weight. See, Tucker v. State of Kansas, 711 P.2d 1343, 1344 (Kan. App. 1986) ("we are constrained to give great weight to the trial court's interpretation of its own judgment."); Auer v. Scott, 494 N.W.2d 54, 58 (Minn. App. 1992) ("generally a trial court's construction of its own decree is accorded great weight on appeal."); Kostelecky v. Kostolechy, 537 N.W.2d 551, 553 (N.D. 1995) ("construction of its own decree by the trial court must be given great weight in determining the intent of the trial court.")(citations omitted);

See also, Baculis v. Baculis, 430 N.W.2d 399, 404 (Iowa Sup. 1998); Wilde v. Wilde, 326 P.2d 415, 416 (Nev. 1958). However, a trial court's interpretation of its own orders is reviewed for correctness. Stevensen v. Goodson, 924 P.2d 339, 346 (Utah 1996).

The trial court's original *Order of Sanction* imposed "a suspension of one year in this matter but will stay all but 181 days." (R. at 169). At the Affirmation Hearing to consider the OPC's request to set aside the reinstatement order, the trial court stated:

THE COURT: In this matter I - - when I entered this order, the suspension in this case, it was my intention that the suspension be for one year and I was staying all but the time. So the suspension would fall underneath 525. It was my intention that all but six months - - you would be suspended for six months and a day, and rather than saying that, I said 181 days, thinking in error that that was the same thing.

(R. at 558 p.25) The trial court left little doubt that, in its mind, the suspension and reinstatement should be carried out pursuant to the requirements of 14-525.

Furthermore, following the Affirmation Hearing the trial court rejected a proposed order submitted by Rasmussen that included language that the reinstatement order "was signed consistent with Rule 14-524." (R. at 265). The March 29, 2011 Affirmation Order ultimately signed by the trial court was noticeably devoid of any reference to rule 14-524. (R. at 262).

Given the expressed intent of the trial court, as well as the conduct of the parties in seeking and opposing reinstatement, this Court, if necessary, should

find that Rasmussen's reinstatement was governed by the provisions of 14-525, not 14-524.

C. Because Rasmussen's Reinstatement was Not Governed by 14-524, His Proposed Order of Reinstatement was Premature and the OPC's Objection was Timely.

Rasmussen filed his *Verified Petition for Reinstatement* on January 24, 2011. At that point the OPC immediately began the process of publishing notice in the Utah Bar Journal, as required by 14-525, conducting discovery, and preparing its opposition to the reinstatement based upon information it had received that Rasmussen had been practicing law while on suspension. However, prior to the expiration of the 60 days allowed under the rules for the OPC to object, Rasmussen filed a proposed *Order of Reinstatement* that was received by the OPC after the order had already been signed. (R. at 558 p.8). Noticeably absent from the filing was a *Notice to Submit for Decision* or any certification that the OPC had been given the opportunity to review the proposed order. However, the filing did include a certificate of mailing stating it had been mailed to the OPC on February 17, 2011, the same day it was delivered to, and signed by, the trial court. (R. at 213-214).

Aware that by rule it only had five days in which to object to the proposed order, the OPC mailed its *Objection to Order of Reinstatement* on February 18, 2011. (R. at 215-218). The objection informed the trial court of the OPC's intent to more fully oppose Rasmussen's reinstatement within the 60 days allowed by

14-525. The OPC later learned the trial court signed the Order on February 17, 2011, the same day it received it.³

In his response to the OPC's objection, a pleading captioned *Reply to Memorandum In Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen*, Rasmussen asserted for the very first time that he was pursuing reinstatement based on the requirements outlined in 14-524 rather than 14-525. (R. at 219)⁴.

Upon learning that the *Order of Reinstatement* had already been signed, and that Rasmussen was claiming reinstatement based on 14-524, the OPC in its reply memorandum asked the trial court to set aside the *Order of Reinstatement* and allow it to proceed under 14-525. (R. at 216)⁵.

Because the OPC had no indication prior to Rasmussen's "Reply" brief that he was seeking reinstatement based on 14-524, the ten-day objection period allowed under the rule should not be a bar to the consideration of the OPC's objection, which was originally filed under 14-525, and the trial court did not

³ The OPC recognizes that Rule 7(f)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allowing a party five days within which to object to a proposed Order is binding only on the litigants and does not require the trial court to wait for the expiration of the objection period before signing the order. See, Henshaw v. Estate of King, 2007 UT App. 378 ¶ 25, 173 P.3d 876.

⁴ The Record prepared by the trial court assigns numbers 219 – 225 to Rasmussen's *Reply to Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen*. The OPC's reply to this memorandum, which follows in the Record, and which is titled *The Office of Professional Conduct's Reply to Reply to Its Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen*, is assigned numbers 216 – 227, resulting in partial duplication.

⁵ See Note 4.

exceed its jurisdiction when it entertained the motion and granted relief accordingly.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE OPC'S OPPOSITION AS A RULE 60(b) POST-JUDGMENT MOTION.

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:...(6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

The rule is designed to protect against orders and judgments which, in consideration of numerous, oft times unarticulated, reasons, would bring about the wrong result.

The allowance of a vacation of judgment is a creature of equity designed to relieve against the harshness of enforcing a judgment, which may occur through procedural difficulties, the wrongs of the opposing party, or misfortunes which prevent the presentation of a claim or defense. An equity court may exercise wide judicial discretion in weighing the factors of fairness and public convenience, and this court on appeal will reverse the trial court only where an abuse of this discretion is clearly shown.

Boyce v. Boyce, 609 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah 1980) (internal citations omitted).

A. The Trial Court had Discretion to Consider the OPC's Opposition to the Order of Reinstatement.

In Darrington v. Wade, 812 P.2d 452 (Utah App. 1991), the Court of Appeals reviewed a trial court's decision to set aside a judgment where the impetus was not a properly styled rule 60(b) motion but, as in the present case,

an objection to a proposed order of judgment. In Darrington, the defendant had repeatedly failed to cooperate in discovery, resulting in the plaintiff moving for sanctions to strike the answer and enter a default judgment. The trial court granted the motion and entered a default. However, the default signed by the judge, which was to be for liability only, included an amount for damages contrary to the trial court's instructions. Upon motion from the defendant, the trial court set aside the default and reopened discovery. After additional failures on the part of the defendant to cooperate, the plaintiff again moved to strike the answer and have the court enter a default judgment.

The trial court again granted the motion for default on liability only. However, when the plaintiff submitted the proposed order it again included an amount for damages. The defendant filed an objection to the proposed order, but as in the present case, the court signed the order without seeing the objection. In supplemental memoranda the defendant argued that the proposed order went beyond the scope of the court's oral order and also argued that his conduct did not warrant entry of a default judgment. Persuaded by the arguments, the trial court again set aside the judgment.

On appeal the plaintiff argued it was improper for the trial court to set aside the judgment because the defendant never filed a proper rule 60(b) motion asking it to do so. The appellate court found that "although [Defendant] never filed a formal motion asking the court to set aside the default judgment, as required by Rule 60(b), they did file a timely objection to the proposed order

prepared by [Plaintiff's] counsel.” Id. at 457. Additionally, the appellate court found that defendant’s objection, “though clearly mislabeled, was the functional equivalent of a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside the judgment.” And, “most importantly, the trial court treated it as such a motion.” Id. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court for considering the motion.

In the present case, the trial court granted partial relief from the reinstatement order pursuant to a post-judgment motion filed by the OPC styled “Memorandum in Opposition to Order of Reinstatement of Thomas V. Rasmussen.” As was the case in Darrington, the order sought to be set aside was signed before the objection came to the attention of the trial court. Therefore, as a practical matter, it would be unreasonable to require the OPC to style its motion as a rule 60(b) post-judgment motion when at the time the motion was filed it did not even know the Order it was opposing had already been signed. And despite the OPC’s failure to caption its motion as a rule 60(b) motion, it was well within the discretion of the trial court to consider it as such.

Of note in the Darrington case is the appellate court’s statement that, “we view [Plaintiff’s] argument largely as an attempt to circumvent the merits of [Defendant’s] assertions by elevating form over substance.” Id. This is strikingly similar to the present case where Rasmussen, who has admitted to practicing law while on suspension, seeks to avoid the consequences of his conduct by attempting to elevate the form of the OPC’s objection over the substance.

Rasmussen cites extensively to this Court's decision in Workers Comp. Fund v. Argonaut Ins. Co., 2011 UT 61, 266 P.3d 792, in support of his argument that the trial court should not have considered the OPC's *Opposition to Order of Reinstatement* as a rule 59 or rule 60(b) post-judgment motion. (Aplt. Br. at 33-34). Rasmussen contends that because the OPC did not caption its motion as such, or specifically cite to either rule in the body of the motion, the trial court should not have entertained it or granted the post-judgment relief. Rasmussen misunderstands the holding in Argonaut.

This Court, in Argonaut, reaffirmed its position as stated in Gillett v. Price, 2006 UT 24, 135 P.3d 861, that for rule 59 motions, "the form of a motion does matter" and that "post judgment motions to reconsider and other similarly titled motions will not toll the time for appeal." Argonaut, ¶ 11. The Court in Argonaut then expanded the Gillett rationale to include rule 60(b) motions and again articulated that "the form of a rule 60(b) motion does matter." *Id.* ¶ 13. Because Argonaut could not have been construed to have filed either a rule 59 or rule 60(b) motion in compliance with the form requirements, this Court refused to consider Argonaut's appeal because it lacked jurisdiction.

What Rasmussen fails to recognize is that the Gillett and Argonaut standards raising form over substance would apply to the present case only if the trial court had refused to entertain the OPC's *Opposition to Order of Reinstatement*, and if the OPC appealed that decision to this Court. This Court would then predictably dismiss the OPC's appeal because its post-judgment

motion was not properly captioned pursuant to Argonaut, and thus unable to confer jurisdiction in the appellate court. However, that is not what occurred. The trial court exercised its discretion to entertain the motion and then granted relief accordingly. Thus, the question of whether the OPC's motion would have extended the time for appeal as a rule 59 motion, or whether denial of the motion would have been appealable as a rule 60(b) motion, is moot and Argonaut is inapplicable.

Rasmussen seeks to expand the holding in Argonaut to not only foreclose appeals based on inadequately captioned post-judgment motions, but to prohibit trial courts from even considering such motions. The Argonaut court specifically declined to adopt such a broad application:

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